2001

Mary Sawyers, United Television, Inc., KTVX v. Michael Jensen, M.D. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

Statement of Jurisdiction

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) of the Utah Code Annotated 1953.

Issues Presented for Review

1. Did the District Court Err When it Denied Summary Judgment and Submitted to the Jury (And Did not Set Aside Its Verdict On) Dr. Jensen's Claim for False Light Invasion of Privacy Grounded on The First Two Broadcasts Because Those Claims Were Time-Barred Under the Applicable Statute of Limitations for Defamatory Falsehoods Causing Injury?

Issue Preserved Below: Motion for Summary Judgment (May 22, 2000); Motion for Directed Verdict (Nov. 29, 2000); Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict ("JNOV") (March 27, 2001). [R. 2741; 2998-3002; 5968; 6038-6040; 6844 at 12.]

Standard of review: "The trial court's application of a statute of limitations presents a question of law which [is reviewed] for correctness." *Estes v. Tibbs*, 979 P.2d 823, 824 (Utah 1999); *see also Snow v. Rudd*, 998 P.2d 262 (Utah 2000) (reversing denial of summary judgment motion on statute of limitations grounds).

2. Did the District Court Err When it Denied Summary Judgment and Submitted to the Jury (And Did Not Set Aside Its Verdict On) Dr. Jensen's Three Alternative Claims Asserting An Invasion of His Sphere of Personal Privacy, Solitude or Seclusion, Premised Exclusively Upon the Defendant's Recording of Conversations In Which Ms. Sawyers Was A Participant, in the Course of Receiving Professional Medical Services Rendered by Dr. Jensen?

Issue Preserved Below: Motion for Summary Judgment (May 22, 2000), Motion for Directed Verdict (Nov. 16, 2000); Motion for JNOV (Mar. 27, 2001). [R. 2741; 2951-2964; 5701, 5720-5724; 5968, 6042-6050.] *Standard of Review:* The question whether one's expectation of privacy is an objectively *reasonable* one, as is required for an

intrusion claim, is one of law, reviewed for correctness. *In re A.C.C.*, 44 P.3d 708, 710 (Utah 2002); *United States v. Garzon*, 119 F.3d 1446, 1449 (10th Cir. 1997); *see also Cox v. Hatch*, 761 P.2d 556, 564 (Utah 1988). A decision to grant or deny a motion for summary judgment is reviewed for correctness. *State ex rel. Office of Recovery Servs. v. McCoy*, 999 P.2d 572, 574 (Utah 2000). Similarly, when a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is premised upon a matter of law, the decision is reviewed for correctness. *Heslop v. Bank of Utah*, 839 P.2d 828, 839 (Utah 1992).

3. Did the District Court Commit Plain Error When it Submitted to the Jury Dr. Jensen's Claims for False Light Invasion of Privacy Where the Defendants' Broadcasts Focused Exclusively on Dr. Jensens' Discharge of His Professional Duties as State Licensed and Regulated Medical Care Practitioner?

Issue Not Preserved Below: Because this purely legal question was not presented to the court below, *but see infra* n. 22, this Court addresses this issue under the “plain error” standard of review. *See Berenda v. Langford*, 914 P.2d 45, 51, n.1 (Utah 1996).

4. Did the District Court Err When it Denied Summary Judgment and Submitted to the Jury (And Did Not Set Aside Its Jury's Verdict On) Dr. Jensen's Claims for Defamation and False Light Because the Defendants' Broadcasts Were Substantially True?

Issue Preserved Below: Motion for Summary Judgment (May 22, 2000); Motion for Directed Verdict (Nov. 16, 2000); Motion for JNOV (Mar. 27, 2001). [R. 2741, 2964-2965, 2975-2997; 5701, 5706-5719; 5968, 6028-6038]. *Standard of review:* Whether liability was imposed on the basis of published statements that were substantially true, and thereby constituted “a forbidden intrusion on the field of free expression,” is a question of law, reviewed *de novo*. *See Masson v. New Yorker Magazine*, 501 U.S. 496,

516 (1991), *Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union of U.S., Inc.*, 466 U.S. 485, 499 (1984); *Brehany v. Nordstrom, Inc.*, 812 P.2d 49, 58 (Utah 1991) (whether statements are substantially true as a matter of law is properly decided by the court); *Ogden Bus Lines v. K S L, Inc.*, 551 P.2d 222, 224 (Utah 1976) (same); accord *Liberty Lobby, Inc. v. Dow Jones & Co.*, 838 F.2d 1287, 1293 (D.C. Cir. 1988) (“substantial truth” subject to independent appellate review); *Locricchio v. Evening News Ass’n*, 476 N.W.2d 112, 124 (Mich. 1991) (same). The standards for review of rulings on motions for summary judgment and post-trial motions are the same as set forth above under issue 2.

5. Did the District Court Err When it Did Not Set Aside the Jury’s Verdict On Dr. Jensen’s Claims for Economic Damages Allegedly Flowing From the Defendants’ Third Broadcast, Where There Was No Evidence That Dr. Jensen Suffered Any Economic Damages as a Result of That Broadcast?

Issue Preserved Below: Motion for JNOV (Mar. 27, 2001), Motion for a New Trial and to Alter or Amend the Judgment (Mar. 27, 2001). [R. 5960, 5987-5989; 5968, 6040-6042.] *Standard of review:* This Court reviews whether there is “substantial evidentiary support” for the jury’s verdict awarding economic damages as a proximate result of the defendants’ wrongful conduct by viewing the evidence marshalled in support of the verdict in the light most favorable to the appellee. *Water & Energy Sys. Tech., Inc. v. Keil*, 48 P.3d 888, 892 (Utah 2002); *Fitz v. Synthes USA*, 990 P.2d 391, 392-93 (Utah 1999). The standard of review for post-trial motions is the same as stated above under issue 2.

6. Must the Jury's Award of Punitive Damages on the Defamation and False Light Claims Be Vacated Because There is No Clear and Convincing Evidence That the Defendants Published the Statements At Issue with Actual Malice?

Issue Preserved Below: Motion for Directed Verdict (Nov. 16, 2000); Motion for JNOV (Mar. 27, 2001). [R. 5701-5703; 5968, 6024-6025; 6849 at 37-38; 6844 at 18.] *Standard of review:* “The question whether the evidence in the record in a defamation case is sufficient to support a finding of actual malice is a question of law.” *Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co.*, 497 U.S. 1, 17 (1990); *Russell v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc.*, 842 P.2d 896, 900 (Utah 1992). Questions of law are reviewed for correctness. *Orton v. Carter*, 970 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Utah 1998).

Constitutional Provisions and Statutes, etc.
(whose interpretation is determinative)

U.S. Const. Amend. 1 [Addendum 1]

Utah Const., Art. 1 Sec. 15 [Addendum 2]

Utah Code Ann. §§ 45-2-3; 76-9-401(1) & (2); 76-9-402(1)(a) & (b); 78-12-29(4); 58-37-4(2)(b)(iii)(A) [Addendum 3]

Utah Admin. Code R156-37-11(11) & (14) (1994) [Addendum 4]

Statement of the Case

A. Nature Of The Case

This is an appeal from a final judgment of the Fourth Judicial District Court in and for Utah County (Case No. 970400512CV), Judge Ray Harding, Jr. presiding. The plaintiff/appellee Michael Jensen, M.D. (“Dr. Jensen”) asserted various tort and statutory claims (as identified below) against defendants/appellants Mary Sawyers and KTVX-TV

(“defendants”) based upon the preparation and broadcast of three separate news reports concerning (1) Dr. Jensen’s prescribing practices that were, by his own admission, in violation of governing law and regulations, and (2) the disciplinary proceedings instituted against Dr. Jensen by the Utah Division of Professional and Occupational Licensing (“DOPL”) as a result of those violations.

B. The Course Of Proceedings And Disposition In The Court Below

Dr. Jensen filed this action on June 27, 1997, alleging claims for fraud, negligent misrepresentation, defamation, intentional interference with prospective economic relations, and negligence. [R. 9.] In December 1998, defendants moved for summary judgment on the fraud and negligent misrepresentation claims in their entirety, and on the other three claims only insofar as they were based on the September 5, 1995 and June 17, 1996 broadcasts, on the grounds that those broadcasts were barred by the one-year statute of limitations provided in Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-29(4). [R. 250, 363.]

In January 1999, Dr. Jensen moved to amend his Complaint to add four additional claims: (1) invasion of privacy/intrusion upon seclusion; (2) violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-401 *et seq.*; (3) violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2511; and (4) invasion of privacy/false light. [R. 383.] Following a hearing on April 4, 1999, the trial court granted Dr. Jensen’s Motion to Amend Complaint, and granted defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment on the fraud and negligent misrepresentation claims, and on the defamation claim, insofar as that claim was based on the September 5, 1995 and June 17, 1996 broadcasts, but denied summary judgment on the other claims based on those broadcasts. [R. 1016, 1142.]

On May 22, 2000, defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on Dr. Jensen's remaining claims on grounds of statute of limitations, substantial truth, lack of actual malice, fair report and public interest privileges, insufficient specificity in pleading the claims, lack of proof of elements of claims for intrusion, statutory violations and tortious interference. [R. 2741, 3029.] Following a hearing on August 24, 2000, Judge Harding denied that motion in its entirety. [R. 4137.]

A trial before a jury of eight was held from October 30 through December 4, 2000. Defendants made written and oral motions for a directed verdict during the trial on all claims, [R. 5701, 5725; 6849 at 4-39; 6844 at 12], which motions were granted as to the negligence claim but denied as to all other claims. [R. 6844 at 12, 25.]

The jury found no liability on Dr. Jensen's claims for violation of the federal wiretap statute and tortious interference based on the first broadcast [R. 5762-5763] [Addendum 5], and found that Dr. Jensen had suffered no damages as a result of the violation of Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-9-402(1)(c) & 403. [R. 5764-5767.] The jury found in favor of Dr. Jensen and awarded him \$520,000 in economic damages, \$85,000 in general damages, and \$245,300 in punitive damages on the false light claim premised upon the first two broadcasts (Sept. 6, 1995 and June 17, 1996); \$1,000,000 in economic damages, \$500,000 in general damages, and \$450,600 in punitive damages on the false light or defamation claim premised upon the third (Nov. 6, 1996) broadcast [R. 5774-5777] and \$90,000 each on the two statutory and one common law intrusion claims. [R. 5768-5773.] The jury also awarded Dr. Jensen \$25,000 in general damages and \$25,000 in punitive damages (with no pecuniary damages) on his tortious interference claim. [R.

5760-5761.] The trial court entered a nonfinal judgment for those amounts on March 13, 2001. [R. 5888.]

On March 27, 2001, defendants filed a Motion for JNOV and a Motion for New Trial and to Alter or Amend the Judgment. [R. 5968, 6052; 5960, 6019.] By Order dated October 25, 2001, the trial court denied in part the Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, denied the Motion for a New Trial, and denied in part the Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment. [R. 6782.] [Addendum 6] The trial court granted defendants' judgment notwithstanding the verdict on Dr. Jensen's claims for violation of Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-9-402(c) and 76-9-403. [R. 6781-6782.] The trial court also ruled that the jury's award of the damages under the three claims for intrusion and violation of Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-9-403(a) and (b) were duplicative, and therefore reduced the three separate awards (of \$50,000 in compensatory damages and \$40,000 in punitive damages on each claim) by \$180,000 to leave a single award of \$90,000. *Id.*

On November 21, 2001, Defendants filed a timely Notice of Appeal from the trial court's final judgment of October 25, 2001. [R. 6787.] Dr. Jensen filed his Notice of Cross-Appeal on December 3, 2001. [R. 6806.]

C. Statement Of The Facts Relevant To The Issues Presented For Review

At the time of the relevant events, Dr. Jensen was a physician practicing medicine pursuant to a license issued by Utah's Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing ("DOPL"). [Pl.'s Ex. 39 ¶¶ 1-2.¹] All of Dr. Jensen's actions that were reported upon by the defendants (and that served as the basis for all claims) were

performed in his *professional* capacity, as a licensed physician, and subject to regulation, oversight, and administrative sanctions by the DOPL. Utah Code Ann. §58-1-401(2)(a) (1999).

1. At a Social Gathering, Dr. Jensen Violates The Regulations That Govern the Prescribing of Controlled Substances

On or about July 4, 1995, Dr. Jensen attended a party at the home of his acquaintance Lisa Johnson. [R. 6845 (Johnson) at 56; R. 6849 (Roth) at 102; R. 6865 (Jensen) at 79.] At the party, Dr. Jensen wrote a prescription for Ms. Johnson for Fastin, a Schedule IV controlled substance (amphetamine) that is used as a diet pill. [Pl.’s Ex. 23.] Ms. Johnson had never been a patient of Dr. Jensen’s. [R. 6845 (Johnson) at 61; R. 6866 (Jensen) at 137.] It was undisputed that Johnson told Dr. Jensen she was not interested in using the diet pills, [R. 6866 (Jensen) at 121 lines 24-25 & 140 lines 5-11; R. 6856 at 14 & R. 6865 at 107 lines 12-18; R. 6845 (Johnson) at 59], but Dr. Jensen nonetheless wrote out the prescription and gave it to Johnson. [R. 6865 (Jensen) at 85; R. 6849 (Roth) at 109-10; R. 6845 (Johnson) at 59]. Prior to prescribing Fastin, Dr. Jensen did not conduct any physical examination of Ms. Johnson [R. 6866 (Jensen) at 128-131], nor did he “determine[] . . . through review of the records of prior treatment . . . that [Johnson] ha[d] made a substantial, good faith effort to lose weight in a treatment program . . . without the utilization of controlled substances.” *See* Utah Admin. Code R156-37-11(14)(a) (1995); [Pl.’s Ex. 16; R. 6845 (Johnson) at 61; R. 6866 (Jensen) at 139 line 13 - 140 line 4]. Johnson was not “obese” at that time. [R. 6849 (Roth) at 105.]

¹ All of the admitted trial exhibits are contained in a single box. [R. 6863.]

Dr. Jensen did not determine whether there were contraindications to her use of Fastin. [R. 6845 (Johnson) at 61.] In fact, Ms. Johnson has a heart condition that could have been seriously aggravated if she took the amphetamine Dr. Jensen had prescribed. [R. 6845 (Johnson) at 89; R. 6849 (Roth) at 116-17.] It is undisputed that Dr. Jensen's prescribing of Fastin to Ms. Johnson was in violation of Utah Admin. Code R156-37-11(14).

2. KTVX Decides to Investigate; Sawyers' Phone Call to Dr. Jensen Confirms Her Suspicion That Dr. Jensen Freely Dispenses Controlled Substances in Violation of State Regulations

Geoff Roth, then the managing editor at KTVX, witnessed Dr. Jensen's actions at the party. [R. 6849 (Roth) at 102-112.] Roth discussed these events with John Edwards, then the news director at KTVX, [*Id.* at 113-115; R. 6864 (Edwards) at 26 lines 10-24], and prepared a "story idea." [Pl.'s Ex. 25.] Edwards and Roth agreed to assign defendant Mary Sawyers, a KTVX reporter who often reported on health and medical issues, to investigate the matter for a possible news story. [R. 6859 (Roth) at 115; R. 6864 (Edwards) at 26-28, 32 line 5 - 34 line 6.] Sawyers first spoke with Lisa Johnson and confirmed Roth's recollection of the events at her party. [R. 6847 (Sawyers) at 90.]

Some time later in July 1995, Sawyers phoned Dr. Jensen to discuss diet pills.² Sawyers asked Dr. Jensen: "What is it that you prescribe [for weight loss]?" Dr. Jensen responded: "Right now what is used most is just Fastin and something called Pondimin.

² Dr. Jensen testified that he understood from his secretary, Laurie Scott, that Sawyers had called the FirstMed Clinic and stated that she was desperate to lose five pounds in two weeks or she'd lose her job as an on-air reporter, [R. 6865 (Jensen) at 119; R. 6856 at 24, lines 17-20; R. 6868 (Scott) at 71-75, 79-80], a claim that Sawyers denied.

Traditionally what has been used is Dexedrine. *Dexedrine technically is illegal to use as a diet pill...*[unintelligible]...sometimes I find people have other disorders that I feel comfortable using Dexedrine with.” [Defs. Ex. 93 at 4 (emphasis added); *see also* Pl.’s Ex. 27.³] During the phone call, Dr. Jensen also stated that many doctors “are reluctant to prescribe prescription diet pills,” but “I really am not.” [Defs. Ex. 93 at 3.] Sawyers told Dr. Jensen she had been on a diet recently and had not lost much weight, [*Id.* at 2], but also that she wished to lose only ten pounds. [*Id.* at 4.] Dr. Jensen told Sawyers that he had prescribed “Dexedrine” to one of his patients (who had put on 20 extra pounds while on her mission) and she had lost that weight in a month-and-a-half. [*Id.* at 5.] Sawyers asked Jensen whether he could prescribe diet pills for her without her having to come to his office (as he had for Ms. Johnson); Jensen told Sawyers that he could not call in the prescription, and that she should come in for an office visit. Sawyers agreed. [*Id.* at 7.]

3. After Station Personnel Decide the Matter is Worthy of Further Investigation, Sawyers Visits Dr. Jensen to Obtain Diet Pills

After Sawyers had conducted additional research into the law that governs a licensed doctor’s prescribing of controlled substances for weight loss [R. 6864 (Sawyers) at 180-181; R. 6871 at 88-89, 138; R. 6843 at 111; *see also* Pl.’s Ex. 233], and after she discussed her findings with Edwards [R. 6871 (Sawyers) at 138], defendants determined that they would further investigate whether Dr. Jensen made a practice of prescribing controlled substances for weight loss without complying with governing regulations.

³ Because “Dexedrine” (Dextroamphetamine) is a Schedule II controlled substance, *see* Utah Code Ann. §58-37-4(2)(b)(iii)(A); 21 U.S.C. § 812(c) (2002), it is illegal to

[R. 6864 (Edwards) at 29-30.] Sawyers and Edwards agreed that they would not carry a story about Dr. Jensen if they discovered that he complied with governing regulations when Sawyers visited him as a patient. [R. 6847 (Sawyers) at 18 lines 1-7; *Id.* at 95 line 7 – 96 line 1; R. 6864 (Edwards) at 32 lines 5-10.]

On July 27, 1995, Sawyers went to the FirstMed clinic where Dr. Jensen practiced part-time. [R. 6867 (Jensen) at 155-156.] The FirstMed clinic was open to the public and treated walk-in patients. [R. 6867 (Katour) at 7 lines 4-6, *Id.* at 8-9; R. 6868 (Scott) at 58 line 17 - 59 line 20.] During the office visit, Dr. Jensen wrote a three-month prescription for Fastin and Pondimin (the diet pill combination “Phen-Fen”) and gave it to Sawyers. [Defs.’ Ex. 77A; R. 6847 (Jensen) at 100 lines 14-15.] It was undisputed that Dr. Jensen prescribed these drugs to Sawyers without first conducting a physical examination. [R. 6866 (Jensen) at 194 lines 10-22.] Although Dr. Jensen’s medical assistant had taken Sawyers’ blood pressure [R. 6847 (Sawyers) at 109; R. 6867 (Katour) at 12-13], Dr. Jensen did not ask Sawyers any questions about her blood pressure history prior to giving her the Phen-Fen prescription; nor did he ask whether she had ever had diabetes (or any other illness, disease, or pre-existing medical conditions)⁴ that might constitute contraindications for Phen-Fen. [Pl.’s Ex. 33; Defs. Ex. 99.] Nor did Dr. Jensen listen to Sawyers’ heart or lungs. [R. 6866 (Jensen) at 185 lines 11-16, 194 lines

prescribe Dexedrine for weight loss. Utah Admin. Code R156-37-11(11)(1995); [Pl.’s Ex. 16].

⁴ Sawyers did fill in a medical conditions checklist prior to entering the patient examination room [R. 6871] (Sawyers), at 55 lines 13-18; R. 6866 at 17 lines 3-6], but did not know whether Dr. Jensen had reviewed it [R. 6847 (Sawyers), R. 6866 at 203 line

1-8.] Prior to giving Sawyers the prescription, Dr. Jensen did not ask whether she was on any medications at the time,⁵ including medications to control high blood pressure. [R. 6847 (Sawyers) at 168-69.] Neither he nor his assistant ever took her weight or asked her what she weighed. [R. 6866 (Jensen) at 188 lines 5-9; R. 6867 (Katour) at 14-15.] Sawyers, who is 5'4" tall, weighed approximately 123 pounds at the time and was not overweight. [R. 6847 (Sawyers) at 181; *see also* R. 6857 (Van Komen) at 170-71.]

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