2001

Mary Sawyers and United Television, INC, aka KTVX v. Michael Jensen, M.D., : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. Appellee's Argument

Dr. Jensen's 'false light invasion of privacy' claims are not time-barred. A 'false light invasion of privacy' is one of four different categories falling under the INVASION OF PRIVACY TORT. Invasion of Privacy is not a defamation tort. It is a separate and distinct tort. Consequently, it is not subject to the one-year statute of limitation in § 78-12-29(4) which

covers defamation, slander and libel. *See Cox v Hatch*, 761 P.2d 556 (Utah 1988) wherein both torts are analyzed. A 'false light tort claim' is based upon true or false statements which place the individual in a false light to his detriment. In contrast a defamation tort consists of false statements which injure the reputation of the individual.

Dr. Jensen's invasion of privacy by way of intrusion arises from the surreptitious video recording of Dr. Jensen by Ms. Sawyers while being treated as a patient in a private examination room with the door closed. They are actionable. All the doctors who were asked testified that they would be highly offended if secretly taped while treating a patient. They all had the expectation that the examination room was a private place for the physician.

Dr. Jensen was also the subject of the Media Defendants' attempt to show that DOPL was not properly performing its function to regulate doctors under its charge. The Media Defendants tried to mold Dr. Jensen to its predetermined "Story idea" in order to put pressure on DOPL to change its way and to go after Dr. Jensen.

Each of the broadcasts were not substantially true. The first broadcast's innuendo was that Dr. Jensen was Lynette Singleton's doctor from whom she had obtained diet pills very casually. He was not. Many of the Media Defendants' statements were flat-out false as exemplified by Ms. Sawyers repeated allegation that Dr. Jensen had promised her illegal drugs. He did not. In the second broadcast the Media Defendants alleged that the State was going after the license of Dr. Jensen. *See* Defendants/Appellants Exhibit 9. The truth according to a DOPL Assistant Attorney General and also the head of the physicians licensing board was that DOPL never sought revocation of Dr. Jensen's license. [R. 6857 (Allred) at 99.] Further, Dr. Jensen did not instruct Ms Sawyers how to abuse a drug but instructed her as how not to abuse

the drug. [R. 6865 (Jensen) at 139-141.]

Dr. Jensen testified that he was injured most by the third broadcast. From this broadcast, the clinic, which had supported him throughout the ordeal of the earlier two broadcasts, warned him that if the notoriety continued they would have to let him go. They then started to cut back his hours. The cut in hours forced him to go into the nursing home industry with its poor pay, long hours, and serious mental stress due to the terminal illnesses of nursing home patients. The jury had the unique opportunity of being able to see the hidden camera tape, the interview tape, and the three broadcasts which were produced. From that they were able to determine the truth or falsity of the broadcasts and the statements contained therein.

B. Cross-Appellant's Argument

The Media Defendants could not have done the three broadcasts without the hidden camera video. As the hidden camera episode violated § 76-9-402(1)(a) and (b), and under § 76-9-406 attorney fees are allowed where there has been a violation of § 76-9-401 *et al.*, the Media Defendants should be assessed attorney fees for all damage caused by their violation of 76-9-402(1)(a) and (b). Further, the gathering of information claims are the proximate cause of the broadcast claims in such a way as to justify an attorney's fee award on all claims.

The jury's award was not duplicative and all of Dr. Jensen's claimed costs should be awarded as necessary disbursements.

VI. APPELLEE'S ARGUMENT

A. The Issues of Fact Raised by the Media Defendants in this Appeal Must, as a Matter of Law, be Determined in Favor of Dr. Jensen. The Media Defendants Failed to Marshal the Evidence.

When challenging a jury's verdict, the appellant must "marshal the evidence in support

of the verdict and then demonstrate that the evidence is insufficient when viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict.” *Harding v Bell*, 2002 UT 108, ¶ 19, 57 P.3d 1093, 1097.

The marshaling process is not unlike becoming the devil’s advocate. Counsel must remove himself or herself from the client’s shoes and fully assume the adversary’s position. In order to properly discharge the duty of marshaling the evidence, the challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which *supports* the very findings the appellant resists. After constructing this magnificent array of supporting evidence, the challenger must ferret out a fatal flaw in the evidence. The gravity of this flaw must be sufficient to convince the appellate court that the court’s finding resting upon the evidence is clearly erroneous.

Nedy v Bennett, 2002 UT App 189, ¶ 11, 51 P.3d 724, 727-28 (citation omitted).

The duty to marshal is not “satisfied by merely making the ‘pertinent excerpts from the record readily available to a reviewing court,’ nor by presenting ‘in minute detail all the evidence before’ the trial court.” *Id.* (citations omitted.) Instead, the appellant must marshal all the evidence in support of the findings and show why, given all of the evidence supporting the findings, the findings are against the clear weight of the evidence.” *Harris v IES Assoc.*, 2003 UT App. 112, ¶ 40, 471 Utah Adv. Rep. 9. “The marshaled facts should ‘correlate particular items of evidence with the challenged findings,’ supporting the findings with all available evidence in the record, and only then should an appellant attempt to demonstrate how the challenged findings are clearly erroneous.” *Nedy*, 2002 UT App 189, ¶ 12, 51 P.3d 724, 728. ‘In the face of an appellant’s failure to properly marshal the evidence, the appellate court’s “most likely action is summary affirmance of the challenged trial court decision.” *Id.*

In this case, the Media Defendants make six arguments. All but the first raise issues of fact, *i.e.*, whether the evidence supported a motion for summary judgment, a directed verdict, or a motion to set aside the verdict. Nowhere do the Media Defendants marshal the evidence.

All they do is argue selective evidence favorable to their position. The Media Defendant's arguments do not even begin to meet their marshaling burden. *See Crookston v Fire Ins. Exch.*, 817 P.2d 789, 800 (Utah 1991). When an appellant fails to marshal the evidence, it cannot show that the findings are clearly erroneous and the reviewing court must presume that the evidence supported the verdict. *Harding*, 2002 UT 108, ¶ 21, 57 P.3d at 1097. As a result, the findings of fact of the trial court and the jury must be accepted as true. The Media Defendants' failure to meet their marshaling burden is alone sufficient grounds to reject any challenges to the jury's findings. *See Crookston*, 817 P.2d at 800.

Furthermore, it is now too late for the Media Defendants to remedy their failure to meet their marshaling burden. "[A] party must marshal all of the evidence supportive of the verdict in its *opening brief*." *Harding*, 2002 UT 108, ¶ 21 n3, 57 P.2d at 1097, n3. (emphasis added). Rule 24(c), Utah R. App. Proc., further dictates, the failure to marshal the evidence cannot be remedied in a reply brief. An appellant cannot reserve its sufficiency of the evidence challenge and wait to marshal the evidence in a reply brief. Such a procedure would deprive the appellee of any opportunity to respond and defend the sufficiency of the evidence and the findings of fact. *See Atlas Steel, Inc., v Utah State Tax Comm'n*, 2002 UT 112, ¶41, 61 P.3d 1053, 1062.

B. An Appellate Court Does Not Review a Pretrial Denial of Summary Judgment After Jury Trial and Adverse Judgment on the Merits.

Sections 1, 2 & 4 of the Media Defendants' argument are based on a summary judgment denial. Many jurisdictions, including the Tenth Circuit, have ruled that a summary judgment denial is not reviewable on appeal after a trial. *See Whalen v Unit Rig Inc.*, 974 F.2d 1248 (10th Cir. 1992). "[S]ummary judgment was not intended to be a bomb planted within the litigation at its early stages and exploded on appeal." *Id.* at 1251. (quoting *Holley v Northrup Worldwide*

Aircraft Servs., Inc., 835 F.2d 1375, 1377-78 (11th Cir. 1988).

Judicial economy does not allow an appeal of a denial of summary judgment after a full trial because the purpose of summary judgment is to eliminate the time, trouble and expense of a trial. *See McBride v Jones*, 615 P.2d 431 (Utah 1980). A summary judgment motion becomes moot. *See Pabuta v Massey-Ferguson, Inc.*, 170 F.3d 125 (2d Cir. 1999); *Gregory v Kilbride*, 565 S.E.2d 685 (N.C. Ct. App. 2002); *Chesapeake Paper Prods. Co. v Stone & Webster Eng'g Corp.*, 51 F.3d 1229 (4th Cir. 1995) (Court of Appeals will not review a pretrial denial of motion for summary judgment after full trial and final judgment on merits); *Watson v Amedco Steel, Inc.*, 29 F.3d 274 (7th Cir. 1994) (same); *Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v Golden Triangle*, 121 F.3d 351 (8th Cir. 1997) (agreeing with the 9th and Federal Circuits that once a party lost at summary judgment and subsequently loses after a trial, the denial of summary judgment cannot be appealed).

C. The Tort of False Light Invasion of Privacy is Governed by the Utah Four-Year Statute of Limitation. It is Not an Enumerated Exception to the Residual Four-Year Limitation Period of UCA § 78-12-25(3).

The scope of the four-year limitation period in subsection (3) of § 78-12-25 has been clear for over 100 years: “torts having nowhere else been provided for in the statute. . . [are] embraced under the general provisions of Section 20, [now sub-section (3)] of UCA § 78-12-25.” *See Thomas v Union Pac. R.R. Co.*, 1 Utah 235 (1875). As the Utah Appellate Court acknowledged in *Hodges v Howell*, 2000 UT App 171, ¶9, 4 P.3d 803, 805, section 78-12-25(3) “applies to all actions for relief that [are] not otherwise covered by any other section.” citing *Branting v Salt Lake City*, 47 Utah 296, 311, 153 P. 995, 1001 (1915). *See also, Olsen v Hooley*, 865 P.2d 1345, 1347 n.1 (Utah 1993) (“A cause of action . . . that is not subject to a specific statutory limitation period is governed by the residual four-year limitation period found in § 78-12-25(3).”)

Utah courts have *never* held that any specific statute of limitation applies to a false light

invasion of privacy claim. There is, however, compelling case law applying other states' catch-all provision to false light invasion of privacy claims. The U.S. Court of Appeals for the 10th Circuit upheld a Kansas court ruling that the "statute of limitations for an invasion of privacy claim" fell under the two-year tort catch-all provision. *Newcomb v Engle*, 827 F.2d 675, 678 (10th Cir. 1987); *see also, Jones v HCA Health Services of Kansas, Inc.*, 1998 WL 159505 * 17 (D. Kan. 1998) (the court refused to apply the 1-year defamation statute of limitation, holding that the two-year catch-all statute of limitations applies to "invasion of privacy actions including those based on false light publicity"). Similarly, in *Ault v Hustler Magazine, Inc.*, 1986 WL 20896 * 6 (D. Or. 1986) the court noted that the Oregon legislature, like the Utah legislature, had not "enumerated the statute of limitations for invasion of privacy" and held that the two-year statute of limitations for invasion of privacy applied. In *Jensen v Times Mirror Company*, 634 F. Supp. 304, 315 (D. Conn. 1986) the federal court found that a false light claim is not otherwise covered by a specific statute of limitation, the all embracing three-year tort statute of limitations applied.

Even though the tort of false light invasion of privacy is not specifically enumerated in any statute of limitation, the Media Defendants mistakenly argue that the one-year statute of limitation for "defamation" should apply. *See Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-29(4)* (1996). They say the nature of those two torts are so "closely allied" that the same limitation period applies to each. The Utah Supreme Court has held that the statute of limitation to be applied is determined "by the nature of the action and not by the pleading labels chosen." *Davidson Lumber Sales, Inc. v Bonneville Inv., Inc.*, 794 P.2d 11, 14 (Utah 1990). In *Cathco, Inc. v Valentin Crane Brunjes Onyon Architects*, 944 P.2d 365, 369 (Utah 1997), the Court reaffirmed explaining, "[f]or purposes of determining the statute of limitations, it is the gravamen of the claim which governs, not the form in which it is pleaded." Just because two torts may both involve the same conduct,

that does not “ally” the two closely enough to share the same limitation period. Application of this test in *Hodges v Howell*, *supra* is instructive, as the factual analysis of *Hodges*, is so similar to the present case that it dictates the conclusion that defamation and false light are distinct and separate. In *Hodges* the issue was which limitation period applied to the tort of “alienation of affection.” No limitation period for this tort is specified in statute. The plaintiff argued alienation of affection is so “closely related with” seduction that they should share the one year limitation period. The Utah Appellate Court recognized both torts may involve the same conduct, *i.e.*, sexual relations, but that sexual relations was not an essential element of alienation of affection, finding that the elements of the torts were not the same and the interests protected were not the same. The court concluded that they were not sufficiently related to share the same limitation period.

Using this same analysis, the Supreme Court in *Russell v Thomson Newspapers, Inc.*, 842 P.2d 896 (Utah 1992), held that the invasion of privacy is “distinct” from defamation. The Court recognized that the tort of defamation only protects an individual’s reputation while the tort of invasion of privacy, false light, protects an “individual’s interest in being let alone.” The gravamen of a false light invasion of privacy action constitutes “publicity that unreasonably places the other in a false light before the public. *See Cox v Hatch*, 761 P.2d 556, 563 (Utah 1988); RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS, § 652A & 652E (1977). Unlike defamation, the statements complained of in an action for false light need not be false. In fact, “an action for invasion of privacy may be the only available remedy when the statements complained of are not themselves false, but merely place plaintiff in a false light.” *Russell*, 842 P.2d at 906-907. The Court concluded that an invasion of privacy claim such as false light invasion of privacy is distinct from a defamation claim. They are not “so closely allied” so as to share the same limitation period.

The trial court correctly applied the four-year residual limitation period of § 78-12-25(3).

D. The Evidence Clearly Supports and the Jury Properly Found the Media Defendants' Intrusion was Substantial and Highly Offensive.

The Media Defendants make four arguments relating to the sufficiency of the evidence on the invasion of privacy claims: 1) whether there was an intrusion into Dr. Jensen's "sphere of personal privacy;" 2) whether the Media Defendants' actions were "highly offensive;" 3) whether Dr. Jensen had a reasonable expectation of privacy as a state-licensed and regulated physician; and 4) whether the defamatory and false-light statements were "substantially true."

All of these involve issues of fact and were found in favor of Dr. Jensen by the jury on the evidence. Although, the Media Defendants cite to numerous cases whose fact situations result in a ruling against the plaintiff, they are all fact specific and distinguishable. Nowhere do the Media Defendants marshal the evidence supporting the jury's findings upheld by the lower trial court in not directing a verdict for Appellants or in granting a judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

1. The Media Defendants Tortuously and Unreasonably Intruded Upon Dr. Jensen's "Sphere of Personal Privacy"

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